THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jean H. Toal, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2018-001965

---

Jerry Howard Crawford, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Evelyn Kay Crawford, Respondent,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Whether the trial court abused its discretion by granting Plaintiffs' motion for a new trial pursuant to the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 4, 2017, Jerry Howard Crawford and Evelyn Kay Crawford (collectively “Crawford”), filed a Summons and Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas for the Seventh Judicial Circuit in the County of Spartanburg. [R. p. 16]. This products liability lawsuit sought unspecified damages arising out of alleged exposure to asbestos which caused mesothelioma in Mr. Crawford. [Id.; R. p. 22]. Mrs. Crawford asserted a loss of consortium claim. [Id.; R. p. 63].

Mr. Crawford alleged that his exposure to asbestos occurred between “approximately 1960 until 1970 . . . worked, or was in close proximity to those who worked, performing automotive repair . . . involving asbestos containing products.” [R. p. 21]. Additionally, Mr. Crawford is alleged to have been an employee at the Hoercst-Celanese facility in Spartanburg, South Carolina. [R. p. 1182, lines 16-19]. It is alleged that during his employment at the Hoercst-Celanese facility he was exposed to asbestos containing insulation products provided by Covil Corporation (“Covil”). [R. p. 1182, lines 7-9].

Covil was one of the Defendants named in the Crawford lawsuit. [R. p. 16]. Covil filed a timely Answer to the Complaint on January 5, 2018. [R. p. 65]. Covil’s Answer denied the allegations of the Complaint that it was liable to Crawford and asserted numerous affirmative defenses. [R. p. 72]. One of the defenses was if Crawford was damaged or injured, it was not caused by Covil. [R. p. 76-77].

On July 16, 2018, a trial began in Spartanburg, South Carolina with Judge Jean H. Toal presiding (hereinafter “trial judge and/or court”). [R. p. 1063]. The sole defendant proceeding to trial was Covil. [R. p. 1; p. 1063]. On July 19, 2018, the jury found for Covil.

[R. p. 1].

Crawford filed a motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict (“JNOV”) on July 30, 2018, which also included the alternative relief for a new trial based upon the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine. [R. p. 522]. Covil opposed that motion by filing a memorandum in opposition on August 3, 2018. [R. p. 530]. Crawford thereafter filed a supplemental memorandum in support of the JNOV motion on September 25, 2018. [R. p. 535]. Covil filed a response to the supplemental brief on October 5, 2018. [R. p. 1034]. On October 9, 2018, Crawford filed another supplemental brief notifying the Court that Covil had recently been found liable in United States District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina. [R. p. 1041].

On October 10, 2018, the trial judge heard oral argument on the JNOV motion. [R. p. 1703]. The court ruled from the bench that she was granting the motion for a new trial based upon the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine and requested Crawford’s counsel to prepare an Order. [R. p. 1753]. An Order granting a new trial was entered October 22, 2018. [R. p. 3]. Covil filed a timely appeal on October 31, 2018, of the Order granting a new trial.

### **ARGUMENT & ANALYSIS**

#### **I. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by granting Plaintiffs’ motion for a new trial pursuant to the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine?**

##### **A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.**

To be sure, South Carolina law recognizes the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine, and has so for the better part of a century. Worrell v. S.C. Power. Co., 195 S.E. 638, 641 (S.C. 1938). When acting as the thirteenth juror, the trial court “possess[es] the veto power to the nth degree, and, it must be presumed, recognizes and appreciates his responsibility, and exercises the

discretion vested in him with fairness and impartiality.”<sup>1</sup> Id. The Supreme Court when it created the thirteenth juror doctrine stated, “[t]his court has no jurisdiction to review matters of fact in an action at law; except to determine if a verdict is wholly unsupported by evidence.” Id. 195 S.E. at 641 (emphasis added).

“The thirteenth juror doctrine is a vehicle by which the trial court may grant a new trial absolute when he finds that the evidence does not justify the verdict.” Curtis v. Blake, 392 S.C. 494, 505, 709 S.E.2d 79, 85 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011)(citations omitted). “Review by an appellate court of the grant or denial of a new trial is ‘limited to consideration of whether evidence exists to support the trial court’s order.’” Id. Historically, however, when considering whether to set aside a verdict, the Supreme Court has said, “[t]his court has no jurisdiction to review matters of fact in an action at law; and therefore, unless a verdict is wholly unsupported by evidence, or is so excessive as to justify the inference that it was capricious, or influenced by passion, prejudice, or other considerations not found in the evidence, if it is excessive, the responsibility for failure to reduce it must rest upon the trial judge.” Blackmon v. Kirven, 170 S.E. 157 (S.C. 1933). It is, thus, with the back drop of “fairness and impartiality” and whether the defense verdict was wholly unsupported by evidence that this Court should consider whether the thirteenth juror doctrine was exercised properly, or if it was guided by cumulative errors of law which led to a result, other than what the jury clearly and unequivocally intended. See, Johnson v. Parker, 303 S.E.2d 95 (S.C. 1983)(new trial appropriate where verdict is inconsistent and reflects juror confusion);

---

<sup>1</sup> [T]he sitting judge must conduct all adversarial proceedings with fairness and impartiality. The wide discretion accorded presiding judges, embedded in the law of South Carolina, is essential to the orderly administration of justice.” State v. Hawkins, 387 S.E.2d 251 (S.C. 1989).

Johnson v. Hoechst Celanese Corp., 453 S.E.2d 908 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995)(under thirteen juror doctrine trial court may grant new trial if the verdict is unsupported by evidence). In a case such as this, the burden of proof was upon Crawford to prove the liability of Covil, on negligence, strict liability, and warranty. Ott v. Pittman, 463 S.E.2d. 101 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995)(negligence); Burns v. Wannamaker, 343 S.E.2d 27 (S.C. 1986)(warranty); Brag v. Hi-Ranger, Inc., 462 S.E.2d 321 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995)(products liability/strict liability). The burden of proof was not upon Covil to show it *did not* do the things complained of by Crawford. O'Neal v. Carolina Farm Supply of Johnston, Inc., 309 S.E.2d 776 (S.C. Ct. App. 1983).

**B. STATEMENT OF FACTS THAT SUPPORT A DEFENSE VERDICT.**

From Covil's perspective, this case was tried on the issue of whether it supplied asbestos containing products to Celanese at the Spartanburg facility. Crawford was exposed to asbestos from sources other than Covil. [R. pp. 1361-1364]. The sales records for Covil prior to 1973 were destroyed in a fire. [R. p. 1410, lines 4-5]. Covil's representative testified that in reviewing the available records, none reflected work by Covil at Celanese from 1970 to 1974, nor did any records reflect work performed for Daniel Corporation. [R. p. 375, lines 7-8; p. 1437, lines 22-25]. The corporate representative of Celanese (Spartanburg) clearly established that he had reviewed the records of Celanese, that Celanese would have had to approve any contract with any subcontractor, supplier or vendor. [R. p. 1196, lines 15-16; pp. 3085-3089; p. 3160; pp. 3162-3163]. The corporate representative of Daniel Corporation, Dan Buck, testified that he went through the forty (40) boxes of documents that made up the Celanese project for Daniel Corporation and found no reference to any work done or

provided by Covil other than three employees of Covil providing fire retardant materials for the structural steel. [R. p. 2651; p. 2654; p. 2656; p. 2658]. Additionally, the records of Daniel Corporation establish that its own employees provided the insulation for the project. [R. pp. 2669-2670; p. 2675]. Finally, the documents of Daniel Corporation established that Covil was neither a subcontractor nor a vendor to Daniel Corporation on the Celanese project. [R. pp. 2669-2670; p. 3245; p. 3446; p. 3467].

### C. THE TRIAL.

During the course of the trial, the court sanctioned Covil for alleged discovery abuse<sup>2</sup>, which resulted in the following charge to the jury at the outset of the trial: “I am instructing you now that Jerry Crawford, the plaintiff in this matter, was exposed to asbestos insulation supplied by and installed by Covil Corporation at Celanese between 1970 and 1974.” [R. p. 1179, lines 8-10]. The court equally noted that she was “unhappy with Covil.” [R. p. 1123, line 10]. The court denied a mistrial motion made on behalf of Covil arguing this charge was tantamount to a directed verdict. [R. p. 1141, lines 9-13, p. 1377, line 12]. The court denied every evidentiary objection lodged by Covil during the trial; save one. [R. p. 1184; p. 1392- p. 1392; pp. 1431-1432; pp. 1464-1466; p. 1603; p. 1608]. The court denied all motions for JNOV by the parties, and at one point said, “I wonder if I do the plaintiff any real favors if I grant these motions, because I would certainly have the opportunity at [JNOV] stage to deal with this, if in the unlikely event the jury did not return a verdict of liability in this matter.”

---

<sup>2</sup> There are presently three other appeals before this Court on Orders striking the Answers of Covil in other matters. SC Ct. App Docket: 2018-000385, 2018-000386; 2018-000388. The Court may take judicial notice of matters of public record in court filings. Colonial Penn Ins. Co. v. Coil, 887 F.2d 1236, 1239 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989) (common and appropriate use of judicial notice is for contents of court records).

[R. p. 1552, lines 7-8]. Respectfully, such a statement evidences a lack of objectivity with regard to the trial of the case and where a lack of objectivity exists, fundamental principles of “fairness and impartiality” are compromised. Worrell, 195 S.E.2d at 641.

Simply put, this trial could not have gone more favorably for Crawford, except for the verdict itself. That said, there is nothing inconsistent with the verdict itself to justify a new trial. There was nothing to suggest passion, prejudice, or caprice by the jury. The verdict itself is supported by the evidence. The premise of the thirteenth juror doctrine is where the result is “wholly unsupported by the evidence”. Blackmon, 170 S.E. 157; Johnson, 453 S.E.2d 908.

In Johnson, the Court of Appeals said, a “trial court may grant a new trial if the judge believes the verdict is unsupported by the evidence.” 453 S.E.2d at 421. Under Johnson, the Court makes clear that if there is a basis for the verdict, the trial judge is correct to refuse to order a new trial based upon the thirteenth juror doctrine. Id. at 422. Here, the trial court has turned that concept on its head by focusing on the notion that “Covil failed to present any evidence to contradict any of the testimony that Covil was one of Daniel Corporation’s primary insulation suppliers . . .” [R. pp. 9-10]. This premise attempts to shift the burden of proof from Crawford to Covil, and it fundamentally ignores the notion of the burden of persuasion to the jury. Despite the fact that all evidentiary issues went Crawford’s way, the court rejecting all but one objection by Covil, the jury, nonetheless, did not find for Crawford, because they were not convinced that Covil did what Crawford alleged. “The resolution of evidentiary conflicts is within the province of the jury, not this court.” Id. (citing JJ. Lawter Plumbing, v. Wen Chow Int’l Trade & Inv., Inc., 331 S.E.2d 789 (S.C. Ct. App. 1985)).

#### D. THE JNOV MOTION AND HEARING.

The majority of the hearing on October 10, 2018, was spent debating whether the court should grant a JNOV and enter a verdict in favor of Plaintiff. [R. pp. 1705-1755]. The focal point of the argument surrounded alleged improper statements by counsel during opening and closing regarding the fact that Covil was out of business. [R. pp. 1714-1715; p. 1724]. During the hearing on October 10, 2018, Crawford's counsel acknowledged that the trial court did not "want to do us [Plaintiff] any harm" in ruling on the motions for directed verdict. [R. p. 1716].

The court, during the questioning of Covil's counsel, made clear that the burden of proof was being shifted to Covil. [R. p. 9, pp. 1731-1733]. "The only issue was, were Covil products used at Celanese? You offered no proof about any of this. . ." [R. p. 1731]. Covil did not have the burden of proof in this matter. O'Neal, 309 S.E.2d 776. The court's insistence for Covil to prove it did not supply asbestos containing products is an impermissible shifting of the burden of proof from Crawford to Covil. Id. Notwithstanding such a shift, during the hearing, counsel directed the court to the proof that was presented at trial that, in fact, would lead a reasonable juror to conclude exactly what twelve jurors concluded. [R. pp. 1732-1742].

The court denied the motion for JNOV during the hearing but granted the motion for new trial pursuant to the thirteenth juror doctrine. [R. pp. 7-10; pp. 1748-1755]. The fact remains, however, that there was evidence presented that Covil did not supply asbestos containing products to Celanese and the jury believed it. See supra § B.

#### E. ERRORS OF LAW.

Crawford argued to the trial court that the “overwhelming” evidence supported a conclusion that Covil supplied asbestos at Celanese. [R. pp. 9-10]. The evidence on this issue, however, was anything but “overwhelming.” In fact, the court’s entire premise for the “overwhelming” evidence is that Covil “failed to present any evidence to contradict Plaintiff’s evidence that Covil was the supplier of the asbestos-containing thermal insulation installed at Celanese. Moreover Covil failed to present any evidence to contradict any of the testimony that Covil was one of Daniel Corporation’s primary insulation suppliers, including from 1970 to 1974 when Daniel installed insulation at Celanese.” [R. pp. 9-10]. This is improper burden shifting and an error of law. O’Neal, 309 S.E.2d 776. Regardless, it’s not true. See, supra, § B. Further, Covil never contested that it was a insulation supplier to Daniel – it was. Covil, rather, contested that there was insufficient evidence to support the conclusion that Covil supplied insulation to Daniel at Celanese. The only other “overwhelming” evidence cited by the court is the admission of a Daniel vendor list that has Covil’s name on it as bolstering a witness’s testimony that he saw that Daniel “brought it in there.” [R. p. 9; p. 2829, line 11]. This is not “overwhelming” evidence of anything except that a witness said he “think[s]” he saw that Daniel “brought it in there.” [R. p. 1189].

The Supreme Court has said, “[t]his court has no jurisdiction to review matters of fact in an action at law; and therefore, unless a verdict is wholly unsupported by evidence, or is so excessive as to justify the inference that it was capricious, or influenced by passion, prejudice, or other considerations not found in the evidence, if it is excessive, the responsibility for failure to reduce it must rest upon the trial judge.” Blackmon, 170 S.E. 157

(emphasis added). Here, the verdict for Covil was not “wholly unsupported by the evidence.” The trial court misapprehends the thirteenth juror standard, instead, imparting the will of one over the twelve jurors deciding the facts. When the Supreme Court created the thirteenth juror doctrine, it used almost the same language in Blackmon, stating, “[t]his court has no jurisdiction to review matters of fact in an action at law; except to determine if a verdict is wholly unsupported by evidence. Worrell, 195 S.E. at 641 (emphasis added). Here, the verdict was supported by admissible evidence and the jury accepted it. The analysis should not be, in light of Worrell, whether there is evidence to support a verdict for Crawford, but rather, whether a defense verdict for Covil was “wholly unsupported by the evidence.” Id. It was not “wholly unsupported by the evidence.” The trial court stated during the JNOV hearing that the verdict “is contrary to the clear preponderance of the evidence.” [R. p. 1748, lines 23-24]. That is not the correct standard as espoused in Worrell. When acting as the thirteenth juror, the trial court “possess[es] the veto power to the nth degree; and, it must be presumed, recognizes and appreciates his responsibility, and exercises the discretion vested in him with fairness and impartiality.” Id. Covil suggests that a fair reading of the entirety of the trial transcript yields only one reasonable conclusion: except for the verdict, the trial went entirely the way Crawford wanted. During the trial, the trial court noted that she was “unhappy with Covil.” [R. p. 1123, line 10]. In another instance, the trial court stated, “I wonder if I do the plaintiff any real favors if I grant these motions, because I would certainly have the opportunity at [JNOV] stage to deal with this, if in the unlikely event the jury did not return a verdict of liability in this matter.” [R. p. 1552, lines 1-5]. These expressions are not of fairness and impartiality.

Finally, the trial court's efforts to shift the burden of proof to Covil constitutes an abuse of discretion as that is an error of law. O'Neal, 309 S.E.2d 776. From the outset of the trial, the court allowed improper arguments surrounding Crawford's theme of the case "value of life". [R. pp. 1183, lines 24-25-p. 1184, lines 1-6]. Welch v. Epstein, 536 S.E.2d 408, 421 (S.C. Ct. App. 2000)("In a wrongful death case, the issue of damages is not directed toward the value of the human life that was lost. . ."). This same theory was also allowed during the closing which was improper. [R. p. 1603]. Id. While Mr. Crawford was not dead at the time of the trial, evidence presented during the trial was that his death would be caused by the exposure to asbestos. [R. p. 1356, lines 9-11]. Later in the trial, Crawford interjected the notion of a "moral obligation" to warn of the hazards of asbestos, and despite the objection, the trial court allowed the question. [R. p. 1430, line 25-p. 1431, lines 1-6]. No such duty exists under the facts of this case. Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Center, Inc., 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (S.C. 2006)(recognizing there is no general duty to warn a third person or potential victim of danger). Certainly, there is no authority for a "moral obligation." Singularly, each of these abuses of discretion might be overlooked, but when applied against the backdrop of "fairness and impartiality" and the standard of whether a defense verdict was "wholly unsupported by the evidence" they collectively show an intent for a desired outcome. Clearly, a defense verdict was not the result sought by Crawford, nor was it expected by the trial court. The verdict, however, was not "wholly unsupported by the evidence" and it should be reinstated." See, Blackmon, 170 S.E. 157; Worrell, 195 S.E. at 641; Johnson, 453 S.E.2d 908; JJ. Lawter, 331 S.E.2d 789.

ALL-STATE BOND  
COTTON CONTENT