**RECEIVED**  
JUN 04 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefer Toal, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of South Carolina (Retired)  
Acting as Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-001965  
Case No. 2017-CP-42-04429

---

Jerry Jerry Howard Crawford, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Evelyn Kay Crawford, Respondent,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in granting a new trial pursuant to the Thirteenth Juror Doctrine when there was conflicting evidence regarding Covil's liability and the trial court's order is not wholly unsupported by the evidence?

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Jerry Crawford<sup>1</sup> commenced this action on December 4, 2017, via a Summons and Complaint filed in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas. [Summons & Complaint, R. at 16]. Mr. Crawford was diagnosed with mesothelioma and sought recovery as a result. [*Id.*, R. at 21]. Mr. Crawford alleged that he was exposed to asbestos, including asbestos-containing thermal insulation supplied by Appellant Covil Corporation, while working at the Hoechst Celanese facility in Spartanburg, South Carolina from 1970 to 1974. [*Id.*, R. at 21]. At the time of trial before Jean Hoefler Toal, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of South Carolina (Retired), acting as Circuit Court Judge, Covil was the only remaining defendant in this matter. Against Covil, Mr. Crawford had three discrete causes of action: negligence, strict liability, and breach of implied warranty. [*Id.*, R. at 25-42].

---

<sup>1</sup> Jerry Crawford died on December 15, 2018. His family is in the process of having his daughter, Patty Giles, appointed as the representative of his estate. Because Jerry Crawford was the Personal Representative of his wife's estate, a new representative will be appointed to oversee her estate as well. Once the personal representatives are appointed by the probate court, a substitution of parties will be made in this Court.

**I. Evidence Offered at Trial<sup>2</sup>**

**A. Mr. Crawford was exposed to asbestos-containing insulation at the Spartanburg Celanese plant.**

Mr. Crawford testified, via video deposition, how he was exposed to asbestos-containing insulation dust. [Deposition of Jerry Crawford, p. 14-36; R. at 1976-1998]. Mr. Crawford worked at the Hoechst Fiber (Celanese) plant in Spartanburg, South Carolina from 1970 to 1974. [*Id.* at 12:20-13:5; R. at 1974:20-1975:5]. During that time, he worked at three locations within the plant: the poly building, the continuous line building, and the warehouse. [*Id.* at 18:19-20:14; R. at 1980:19-1982:14] Daniel Construction (Daniel) built an addition to the continuous line building during the period Mr. Crawford worked at Celanese. [*Id.* at 23:10-24:6; R. at 1985:10-1986:6.] Daniel installed insulation on the new lines in this area. [*Id.* at 21:14-16, 21:18-22:5; R. at 1983:14-1984:5.] Mr. Crawford testified that throughout this period, he saw Daniel cut insulation for steam pipes, which created “a good bit of dust.” [*Id.* at 20:23-25, 21:2-6, 21:7-10; 24:25-25:2, 25:7-9; 25:14-16; R. at 1982:23-1983:10; 1986:25-1987:16.] Mr. Crawford testified that this work caused him to breathe that dust. [*Id.* at 24:25-25:2, 25:7-9, 25:12; R. at 1986:25-1987:12.] After construction was completed, the dust created from such work remained in his workspace. [*Id.* at

---

<sup>2</sup> Prior to Respondent calling his first witness, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, as the result of rulings that I have made, I am instructing you now that Jerry Crawford, the plaintiff in this matter, was exposed to asbestos insulation supplied by and installed by Covil Corporation at Celanese between 1970 and 1974.

[R. at 1179:8-12]. This instruction was given as the result of sanctions levied against Covil for its failure to cooperate during the discovery phase of this matter. Covil’s counsel noted that if this instruction was followed by the jury, Mr. Crawford was essentially being granted a directed verdict on the issue on liability. [R. at 1140:2-1141:7]. Respondent disagreed, as he would still have to prove causation. [R. at 1141:14-16]. The court agreed with Respondent and the jury was instructed as stated. Respondent argued for directed verdict at the end of Covil’s case-in-chief and requested that the trial court not give consideration to this presumption. Moreover, in granting Respondent’s motion for a new trial, the court gave no consideration to the presumption.

29:10-12, 29:14-16; R. at 1991:10-16.] Daniel also repaired the insulation in the poly building. [*Id.* at 28:20-29:3; R. at 1990:20-1991:3.]

Mr. Crawford was never warned about the dangers of working with or around asbestos. [*Id.* at 51:8-52:12.; R. at 2013:8-2014:12.] Mr. Crawford stated that if he had known that asbestos was dangerous, he would have “found another job away from asbestos.” [R. at 2014:13-17.]

Harley Neelands corroborated Mr. Crawford’s testimony about the quantity of dust created from the insulation work performed at the Celanese plant. Mr. Neelands worked for Daniel at the Celanese plant in Spartanburg. [Deposition of Harley Neelands, 124:6-11; R. at 2819:6-11.] According to Mr. Neelands, Daniel insulated pipe at the Celanese plant. [*Id.* at 124:22-25; R. at 2819:22-25.] Mr. Neelands testified that they used Kaylo-brand half-moon insulation, “mud” insulation and Kaylo block insulation. [*Id.* at 125:23-126:4, 126:19-21, 126:19-21, 126:23-127:2; R. at 2820:23-2822:2.] He described how dust was created from cutting the Kaylo insulation, mixing the mud insulation, and cleaning up afterwards. [*Id.* at 126:5-12; 127:5-11; 130:18-22, 130:24-25; R. at 2821:5-12; 2822:5-11; 2825:18-25.] Their clothes were covered with white chalky dust at the end of each day. [*Id.* at 131:9-13, 131:16-18; R. at 2826:9-18.]

Mr. Crawford also offered evidence that the insulation used in his presence, contained asbestos. Bruce Bowyer testified on behalf of Celanese and agreed that the additions to the plant described by Mr. Crawford and Mr. Neelands occurred in the early 1970s. [Deposition of Bruce Bowyer, 12:18-20; 91:4-12; R. at 3038:18-20; 3117:4-12.] Mr. Bowyer agreed that plant specifications called for amosite asbestos-containing insulation. [*Id.* at 86:3-13; R. at 3112:3-13.] During his testimony, Mr. Bowyer referred to a plant survey conducted in 1995, admitted as Plaintiff’s Exhibit No. 822.1, which showed the quantity of asbestos-containing insulation removed from various areas of the plant. [*Id.* at 91:4-12; R. at 3117:4-12.] In the area where Mr.

Crawford worked, 90% of the thermal insulation removed from that area contained asbestos. [*Id.* at 173:7-12, 174:12-22; R. at 3199:7-3200:22.]

Covil, through its corporate representative Robert Glenn, admitted that Kaylo-brand insulation contained asbestos during the time period when Daniel was installing Kaylo-brand half-moon and block insulation. [R. at 1406:12-17; 1412:17-1413:1.] Covil admitted that such Kaylo insulation contained asbestos through until 1973. [R. at 1406:3-11.]

**B. Covil supplied and installed the asbestos-containing insulation at Spartanburg Celanese.**

During trial, Respondent presented evidence that the asbestos-containing insulation to which Jerry Crawford was exposed was supplied and occasionally installed by Covil. Mr. Neelands testified that Covil supplied the insulation that Daniel installed at the Celanese plant. [Neelands Depo., R. at 2829:6-17; 2830:22-25.] Covil admitted that it sold Kaylo brand asbestos-containing insulation, the same brand that Mr. Neelands identified as being installed at the Spartanburg Celanese plant. [R. at 1406:15-17.]

Mr. Neelands' testimony was corroborated by testimony and evidence that Covil supplied insulation to Daniel and Covil acted as Daniel's insulation subcontractor. Covil admitted at trial that it sold insulation to industrial contractors. [R. at 1403:8-13.] In fact, according to Covil, it was the second largest insulation contractor in the southeast United States in the 1960s and 1970s, and Daniel was one of its largest customers. [R. at 1405:11-14; 1410:23-25.] Covil's relationship with Daniel began in the early 1960s. [R. at 1411:1-4.] Covil agreed that Daniel constructed the Spartanburg Celanese plant. [R. at 348:1-9.]

During direct examination, Covil asked Mr. Glenn about his search for documents reflecting Covil's sales to the Spartanburg Celanese plant. He testified that he performed a word search of Covil's documents and found nothing regarding the Spartanburg Celanese plant. [R. at

1437:7-24.] He stated that a fire occurred in 1973, thereby causing Covil to lose all sales information from 1973 and beforehand. [R. at 1439:8-11.] Additionally, although Mr. Glenn performed a word search, he only actually read about 100 of the 24,000 pages of documents available to him. [R. 1427:19-22.] Mr. Glenn reviewed documents and testimony from prior corporate representatives which confirmed that Covil was an approved insulation vendor at the Celanese Spartanburg plant. [R. at 1438:12-18.]

In contrast to the testimony from Covil regarding the destruction of relevant documents in the 1973 fire, Machen Carpenter testified that Covil's office complex was protected by a fire wall and the office complex was not destroyed by the 1973 fire. [Deposition of Machen Carpenter, at R. at 2615:16-21.] Moreover, Covil's documentation was kept in a vault which would not have been destroyed by the 1973 fire either. [R. at 2615:21-22.] Mr. Carpenter testified that the missing sales records and/or invoices were likely destroyed by means other than the fire. [R. at 2615:22-25.] Similarly, Mr. Carpenter testified that Covil and Daniel worked closely together. [R. at 2522:24-2523:16; 2565:18-2566:14.]

Daniel, through its representative, confirmed that it did business with Covil as an insulation supplier and insulation subcontractor. [Deposition of Don Buck, at 11:14-17; 102:7-18, 103:2-6; R. 2645:14-17; 2667:7-2668:6.] Similarly, Dwaine Waters, a former Covil employee, testified that if Daniel had the maintenance contract, Covil did the insulation work. [Deposition of Dwaine Waters, 402:3-5; R. 2450:3-5.] Mr. Waters also testified that Covil sold and installed asbestos-containing insulation in boxes labeled "asbestos free." [R. at 630-631.] He informed his supervisors of this conduct, but they continued to use the asbestos-containing insulation because Covil needed to get rid of the asbestos-containing insulation in its warehouse. [*Id.*]

**C. Mr. Crawford's exposure to asbestos-containing insulation supplied by Covil was a substantial factor in the development of his mesothelioma.**

Respondent introduced causation testimony from two expert witnesses: Dr. Arnold Brody and Dr. John Maddox. Dr. Brody, an expert qualified in the areas of cell biology and experimental pathology, testified about how asbestos gets into the body and how it causes disease. [R. at 1218:1-6; 1207-1259:11-2.] Specifically, Dr. Brody testified that there was only one way for an asbestos product to get into the lymph nodes in the body and that is through inhalation. [R. at 1241:11-18.] According to Dr. Brody, because lymph "is a circulation," if there are lymph nodes around the lung where the mesothelial cells are, the asbestos fibers could be deposited there. [R. 1241:11-22.] Dr. Brody went on to explain that asbestos causes cancer in that it either displaces genes necessary for the normal distribution of chromosomes or it produces "reactive oxygen species" which damage DNA. [R. at 1241:23-1242:4; 1250:5-1251:8.] Dr. Brody was not cross-examined by Covil.

Dr. Maddox was qualified to testify as an expert in the diagnosis and causation of asbestos-related diseases from various asbestos-containing products. [R. at 1288:22-1289:12.] He offered all of his opinions to a reasonable degree of medical and scientific certainty. [R. at 1289:24-1290:2.] Dr. Maddox testified that removing asbestos-containing thermal insulation creates "very high levels of [asbestos] exposure." [R. at 1312:22-1313:1.] The exposure, as Dr. Maddox informed the jury, could reach levels of 100 fibers per cubic centimeter. [*Id.*] Additionally, the asbestos dust remains in the air for some afterwards and can be carried to adjacent spaces, even other rooms. [R. at 1313:2-8.]

Dr. Maddox reviewed Mr. Crawford's pathology records and opined that Mr. Crawford has "a malignant mesothelioma of the biphasic type of his right pleura." [R. at 1291:4-11.] Importantly, Dr. Maddox opined that Mr. Crawford's mesothelioma was asbestos related because

he “did not see . . . any other type of exposure that had contributed to his mesothelioma.” [R. at 1292:14-19.] He also testified that, based on the medical and epidemiological literature available, asbestos causes mesothelioma and that it did not take a lot of asbestos to cause mesothelioma. [R. at 1293:18-1295:18.] Dr. Maddox informed the jury that, as of the Selikoff conference in 1967, it was known that some pipe insulation contained asbestos, including amosite and chrysotile, and, if it contained asbestos, it was hazardous. [R. at 1311:19-1312:16.] Dr. Maddox stated that “almost all cases of mesothelioma are caused by asbestos exposure.” [R. at 1314:4-10.] Indeed, Covil admitted that, based on the science, there is a relationship between asbestos exposure and mesothelioma. [R. at 1418:11-14.]

Dr. Maddox was given a hypothetical which assumed the following: (1) that Mr. Crawford worked at the Celanese Spartanburg facility from 1970 to 1974 where thermal system insulation, containing amosite asbestos, was being worked on and installed, (2) that he was close enough to the dust from the thermal insulation that he breathed that dust, (3) that he also swept up after the work that was being done on the thermal systems insulation, (4) the work that he performed at Celanese around thermal system insulation occurred regularly throughout 1970 through 1974, and (5) that he was diagnosed with mesothelioma. [R. at 1345:13-1346:9.] With those facts in mind, Dr. Maddox opined that Mr. Crawford’s exposure to asbestos-containing thermal insulation at Celanese from 1970 through 1974 was a substantial contributing cause to the development of his mesothelioma. [R. at 1346:11-16.] Additionally, Dr. Maddox testified that Mr. Crawford’s mesothelioma will cause his death. [R. at 1346:17-21.]

Covil asked Dr. Maddox questions about how he attributes causation. When cross-examined about the source of his clinical history, Dr. Maddox explained that he relied on an exposure history as a basis for attribution. [R. at 1358:12-25.] Dr. Maddox clarified that each

“significant” exposure to asbestos contributed to Mr. Crawford’s mesothelioma, not merely every exposure. [R. at 1361:12-1362:2.] Dr. Maddox was asked about whether Mr. Crawford’s exposures to any asbestos-containing brakes constituted a substantial contributing factor in the development of his mesothelioma. [R. at 1362:3-11.] He could not and did not render such an opinion. [R. at 1362:12-1363:5.] While he agreed that there may be an asbestos exposure that occurred, he never stated that this component exposure, if any, was a substantial factor. [R. at 1363:6-15.]

Covil posed a hypothetical to Dr. Maddox which asked Dr. Maddox to assume that Mr. Crawford was exposed on a daily basis to asbestos-containing insulation at Celanese installed by Daniel and manufactured, essentially the same hypothetical asked in direct but without including the assumption that Covil supplied the insulation. [R. at 1363:16-30; 1364:16-21.] Dr. Maddox responded that the “asbestos involved in those exposure contributed to Mr. Crawford’s cumulative dose” of asbestos which caused his mesothelioma. [R. at 1364:22-1365:1.]

**D. Covil knew that inhaling asbestos dust from asbestos-containing insulation caused fatal disease by 1965 yet knowingly failed to act to reduce the risk to end users.**

Dr. Maddox testified about what was knowable and known in the scientific community about the hazards of exposure to asbestos. He testified that the first case reports regarding the lethality of asbestos dated to the 1890s among asbestos textile workers. [R. at 1304:9-17.] By the 1930, there was a published study which concluded a significant hazard for asbestos textile workers, along with other asbestos-containing materials like gaskets and brake linings. [R. at 1304:18-1305:4.] In the 1940s and 1950s, the scientific community gradually gained awareness of the malignant diseases caused by asbestos exposure. [R. 1305:15-19.] An epidemiologic study showed a statistically significant association between asbestos exposure and lung cancer by 1955. [R. at 1305:17-22.] In the 1960s, articles began appearing that associated asbestos exposure with

mesothelioma. [R. at 1305:23-1306:21.]

Covil admitted that it received information about the hazards of asbestos from numerous sources beginning in the 1960s. Covil was aware that various insulation unions raised concerns about the hazards of asbestos in the mid-1960s. [R. at 1418:23-24.] Covil was also a member of the Southeast Insulation Contractors Association since the 1960s and was a member of the National Insulation Contractors Association. [R. at 1419:15-23; 1420:4-8.] Covil's founder, Palmer Covil, served as a director and president of that organization. [R. at 1419:24-1420:3.] Palmer Covil attended trade organization conferences and conventions. [R. at 1420:12-15.] He received and read trade organization magazines. [R. at 1420:16-23.] Mr. Covil generally understood what was going on in the industry in the 1960s. [R. at 1420:24-1421:1.] Additionally, Mr. Palmer Covil attended a conference in the mid-1960s in which Dr. Irving Selikoff spoke. [R. at 1422:5-17.] Covil agreed that Dr. Selikoff is a reliable source about asbestos hazards. [R. at 1422:18-21.]

Covil knew that asbestos was hazardous. Covil has known that asbestos could cause fatal asbestosis since 1965. [R. at 1418:18-24.] Covil possessed actual knowledge of OSHA regulations regarding asbestos in 1971. [R. at 1423:10-16.] Also, Covil's own records demonstrated that, by 1972, one of its own employees had developed asbestosis. [R. at 1423:5-9.]

Covil was aware of methods to warn and protect consumers and end users like Mr. Crawford. Covil first saw warning labels on asbestos-containing products in 1968. [R. at 1423:1-3.] It provided respirators to its own employees in the 1950s. [R. at 1424:19-22.] Covil began implementing its own measures to protect its own employees from asbestos, such as the use of industrial vacuums and exhaust ventilation, in 1972. [R. 1424:12-1425:8.]

Despite such knowledge, Covil did nothing to protect others. It admitted that it never had

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